I. INTRODUCTION & IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

James Bearden, respondent in the Court of Appeals, 1 asks this 

Court to accept review of a portion of the Court of Appeals' decision 

terminating review, designated in Part II. 

The Court of Appeals in Bearden v. McGill, No. 72926-8-I (slip 

op., April 11, 2016), Appendix A,2 applied a literalistic misconstruction of 

its own "compare comparables" doctrine,3 straining to absurdity the 

Legislature's intent in MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06.060(1). MAR 7.34 

requires the trial court to assess reasonable attorney fees and costs if the 

appealing party "fails to improve his or her position on the trial de novo."

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Should this Court accept review to address a question of 

substantial public interest in Bearden's undermining of the Legislature's 

intent to discourage meritless appeals, and to resolve Bearden 's conflicts 

with previous decisions, by a literalistic application of the Court of 

Appeals' "compare comparables" approach, requiring trial courts to 

exclude all post-arbitration RCW 4.84.010 costs necessarily incurred by 

the nonappealing party, from the MAR 7.3 determination? RAP 

13.4(b)(1), (2), (4). 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Arbitration and Trial De Novo. 

This is an admitted liability car crash case involving non-

catastrophic injuries to Bearden by McGill--exactly the kind of case the 

mandatory arbitration system was intended to take off the superior court 

docket and resolve speedily. At mandatory arbitration initiated by 

-4-



Bearden, the arbitrator awarded $44,000.00 in damages ($34,336.09 in 

general damages; $8,663.91 in special (medical) damages), and $1,187.00 

in RCW 4.84.010 costs, for a total arbitration award of $45,187.00. CP 

290. 

McGill elected to appeal in a trial de novo. CP 265-69. The jury 

awarded Bearden $42,500.00 in general damages only, CP 109, as 

Bearden did not seek special/medical damages at trial. 10 The trial court 

awarded RCW 4.84.010 costs of $3,296.39, CP 88-89, for a total trial 

judgment against McGill of $45,796.39. This was $582.39 more than the 

arbitration award of$45,187.00. CP 86-87; slip op., at 3. Appendix D. 

The trial court then granted Bearden's request for reasonable 

attorney fees under MAR 7.3 because McGill had failed to improve his 

position on the trial de novo. Consistent with the case law and history of 

the MARs, the trial court compared the final arbitration award (damages 

plus RCW 4.84.010 costs--$45,187.00) to the judgment amount (damages 

plus RCW 4.84.010 costs--$45,769.39) of defending the arbitration award 

at the trial de novo. The trial court awarded Bearden $71,800.00 in 

attorney fees. Slip op., at 3; CP 7-12. 

10 Using Bearden's "compare comparables" approach, the only element of damages at 
issue at Bearden's arbitration and at trial was general damages. The jury's award of 
general damages was $8,163.91 more than the $34,336.09 in the general damages at 
arbitration. Thus, McGill failed to improve his position on general damages at trial. 

- 5-



B. McGill's Appeal. 

McGill appealed. At oral argument in the Court of Appeals, the 

Court (Judge Leach, writing judge) presented a theory new to both parties: 

that the trial court, in calculating whether the appealing party failed to 

improve his position on the trial de novo, should segregate and exclude 

any RCW 4.84.010 costs requested by the nonappealing party (Bearden) 

that were not considered at the arbitration, though the costs could only 

·have been incurred from the time after the arbitration through trial. 11 

Even McGill objected to the Court's proposed new theory. The 

Court pointed out, "You would win under my proposal. That's what 

puzzles me about your rejection". VRP 17:10-11. 12 

[B]ut here's my--here's my challenge. And I have a few moments 
to think about your formula adopted here to make my client win, 
but here are the problems that I foresee for other cases, and even 
for this ease--l was unable to answer your question about what 

11 "JUDGE LEACH: I'm going to propose a way of looking at this, and see what you 
think about it. What if we were to take the view that we examine all of the claims, both 
for damages and costs submitted to the arbitrator, total up the dollar amounts plaintiff 
recovered under all of those, and then take all of those claims but not any new claims for 
costs, for example, that arise because of the trial de novo, determine for those same 
claims what the plaintiff recovered in Superior Court on those claims, and then compare 
those two numbers. Is there any problem with that analysis from your perspective?" VRP 
4:1-12 (emphasis added). Appendix C. 

McGill responded: "Well, I don't know that there's any case--.. .I guess in your 
proposal, it's somewhat of a comparative comparables, but you're changing the 
comparables. And it would be a difficult thing." VRP 4:13-14; 5:2-7. 
12 The Bearden Court stated it arrived at this new formula in an effort to "reconcile all of 
the cases that are out there. And this is the best that I'm able to do. I'm trying to 
identify where I've gone wrong. And I'm asking for your help." VRP 6:7-10 
(emphasis added). "We're talking about whether there is a fee shifting that's going to 
occur because of[ what statutory costs are awarded at trial]". VRP 14:7-9. "And how we 
do the arithmetic." VRP 14:14. 
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costs were requested at arbitration. By the very nature of a 
mandatory arbitration, there's not a record. So if we get into this 
question of what costs were asked for and what were awarded at 
the arbitration, and we're going to only look at those and then 
compare it to the ultimate outcome at the trial, it would be difficult. 

VRP 17:13-18:1. 

On April 11, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued a published 

opinion adopting this new theory and reversing the Superior Court's 

judgment: 

[A] court determines if a party improved its position at a trial de 
novo by comparing every element of monetary relief the arbitrator 
considered with the trial court's award for those same elements. 
Here, this means the damages and statutory costs that both the 
arbitrator and trial court considered. It excludes those statutory 
costs requested only from the trial court. 

Slip op., at 2. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. Bearden Raises an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Meriting 
Review Because Excluding Post-Arbitration RCW 4.84.010 
Costs Undermines the Goals of Mandatory Arbitration. 

MAR 7.3 provides: 

The court shall assess costs and reasonable attorney fees against a 
party who appeals the award and fails to improve the party's 
position on the trial de novo. 

The application of a court rule or statute is a legal question reviewed de 

novo. 13 

13 Miller v. Paul M Wolff Co., 178 Wn. App. 957, 966, 316 P.3d 1113 (2014)(citing 
Niccum v. Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441,446,286 P.3d 966 (2012)). 
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Citing basic rules of statutory construction, the Bearden Court 

stated it would interpret an ambiguous statute "in the way that best fulfills 

the legislature's intent." Slip op., at 5. 14 The Bearden Court proceeded to 

construe the phrase "fails to improve his or her position at trial" contrary 

to legislative intent. 

A long line of cases emphasizes the intent that "RCW 7.06.060(1) 

and MAR 7.3' s purposes are to ease court congestion, encourage 

settlement, and discourage meritless appeals." Miller v. Paul M Wolff Co., 

178 Wn. App. 957, 966, 316 P .3d 1113 (20 14 )(quoting Huntington v. 

Mueller, 175 Wn. App. 77, 81, 302 P.3d 530 (2013)(citing Niccum v. 

Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441, 451, 286 P.3d 966 (2012)); e.g., Hutson v. 

Rehrig Int'l, Inc., 119 Wn. App. 332, 335, 80 P.3d 615 (2003); Christie-

Lambert Van & Storage Co. v. McLeod, 39 Wn. App. 298, 302, 693 P.2d 

161 (1984)Y 

14 Even without an ambiguity, "Interpreting statutes requires the court to discern and 
implement the legislature's intent." Williams, 174 Wn.2d at 61; Christie-Lambert, at 302 
("The primary objective of statutory construction is to carry out the intent of the 
Legislature .... The intent must be determined primarily from the statutory language itself. 
... Where, however, the intent is not clear from the language of the statute, the legislative 
history may be considered."). When statutory language is susceptible to more than one 
reasonable interpretation, it is ambiguous and the Court may resort to statutory 
construction, legislative history, and relevant case law for assistance in determining 
legislative intent. E.g., Estate of Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice Arena, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 
489,498,210 P.3d 308 (2009). 
15 "The purpose of RCW 7.06 authorizing mandatory arbitration in certain civil cases is 
primarily to alleviate the court congestion and reduce the delay in hearing civil cases. 
Senate Journal, 46th Legislature (1979), at 1016-17 ." !d. at 302. "The determination of 
whether or not the appealing party's position has been improved is based on the amount 
awarded in arbitration compared to the amount awarded at the trial de novo." E.g., 
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A party who appeals a decision of an arbitrator, but fails to 
improve his or her position at the trial de novo, will be assessed 
costs and reasonable attorney's fees .... The intent of this rule is to 
encourage the parties to accept the decision of the arbitrator. 

King County Pro Se Handbook, 16 at p. 24 (emphasis added). 

The risk of incurring attorney fees as a consequence of disputing 

the arbitration award and taking the controversy to court is a well-known 

part of this overarching purpose: 

[The] purpose of arbitration .. .is to keep disputes out of the 
courts .... That purpose is best served by reading MAR 7.3 as a 
broad warning that one who asks for a trial de novo, and 
thereafter suffer a judgment for a greater amount than the 
arbitration award, will be liable for attorney's fees. 

Cormar, Ltd v. Sauro, 60 Wn. App. 622, 623-24, 806 P.2d 253 (1991) 

(emphasis added; citation omitted). 

Like other one-way fee-shifting statutes, restricting "an award of 

attorney fees under RCW 7.06.060 and MAR 7.3 only to the successful 

appellee ... reflects a policy decision favoring arbitration and deterring 

appeals[.]" Christie-Lambert, at 302-03 (emphasis added). 17 

SB 5373 (2002), Final Bill Report, http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2001-
02/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/Senate/5373.FBR.pdf(emphasis added.) Appendix E. 
16 https://www.kcba.org/publications/pdt/pro-se2006.pdf, 
17 Christie-Lambert compared MAR 7.3 's fee-shifting scheme to a similar fee-shifting 
statute, RCW 4.84.290, "designed 'to encourage out-of-court settlement of small claims, 
and to penalize parties who unjustifiably pursue or resist the claims.'" !d. at 302-03 
(emphasis added); id. at 303 (comparing MAR 7.3 to federal local rule governing 
compulsory arbitrations, discouraging meritless appeals by assessing fees and interest). 
As the Washington Court of Appeals observed in Colarusso v. Petersen, 61 Wn. App. 
767, 770-71, 812 P.2d 862 (1991), this Court in Ford Motor Co. v. Barett, 115 Wn.2d 
556, 800 P.2d 367 (1990), upheld the one-way fee-shifting provision of the Motor 
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Without the deterrent effect of this fee-shifting provision, "the 

defeated party would be likely to appeal in nearly all instances and the 

arbitration proceedings would tend to become a mere nullity and waste of 

time." Id at 303 (quoting In re Smith Case, 381 Pa. 223, 233, 112 A.2d 

625, 629 (1955)). If there is no disincentive to appeal, the arbitration is 

just another procedural step, a "dress rehearsal for the real trial, with each 

side getting a good look at the other's case." Williams v. Tilaye, 174 

Wn.2d 57, 63,272 P.3d 235 (2012). 

MAR 7.3 "was meant to be understood by ordinary people who, if 

asked whether their position had been improved following a trial de novo, 

would certainly answer 'no' in the face of a superior court judgment 

against them for more than the arbitrator awarded." Cormar, at 623. In this 

case, an ordinary person would certainly answer that McGill did not 

improve his position by taking the case to trial de novo, with all the 

attendant costs which McGill and his insurer fully anticipated. Bearden 

completely contradicts an ordinary person's understanding. 

As the late Justice Tom Chambers noted in Niccum: 

The legislature, having provided for statutory costs to a prevailing 
party at arbitration, would surely have been clear if the benefits of 
prevailing at arbitration were to be extinguished by a request for a 
trial de novo. See State v. Edwards, 104 Wn.2d 63, 68, 701 P.2d 

Vehicle Warranties law (Lemon Law), noting that, like MAR 7.3, the Lemon Law 
promotes arbitration of disputes. 
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508 (1985)(courts should not add or subtract language from a 
statute unless required to make the statute rational). 

!d. at 455-56 (Chambers, J., dissenting). Precisely so: The Legislature 

would surely have been clear if the benefits of prevailing at arbitration 

were to be extinguished by disallowing RCW 4.84.010 costs incurred after 

arbitration through the trial de novo, because the risk of failing to improve 

one's position at trial and incurring MAR 7.3 attorney fees will be much 

lower. See note 6. Supra (and cases cited therin). 

It is true that MAR 7.3 was not intended to discourage 

"meritorious" appeals. Slip op., at 14. But is it warranted18 or justified to 

spend $70,000 in fees for plaintiffs counsel, a similar sum for defense 

counsel, costs for the court's time, and unquantifiable costs in requiring 

the citizen jurors to abandon their daily lives for a week of jury service in 

order for an appealing party to attempt to improve a damage award by 

$1 ,500? It is not. Yet this absurd result follows from Bearden's new 

formula. 

The very narrow and limited costs authorized by RCW 4.84.010 

which the non-appealing party necessarily incurs after an arbitration 

should be included in an MAR 7.3 analysis. 19 The unwarranted 

18 See Williams, 174 Wn.2d at 63-64 ("unwarranted"). 
19 The Tran court's dicta that trials are almost always more expensive than arbitration and 
that adopting Tran's position would mean a party would invariably improve its position 
at trial lacks support, and, as discussed here, is contrary to MAR 7.3's legislative intent, 
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expenditure of resources required by an MAR appeal is exactly what the 

MAR system is designed to prevent. The deterrent effect of including 

post-arbitration taxable costs in the MAR 7.3 analysis clearly furthers the 

statute and rule's purpose. 

This Court should accept review to fulfill the Legislature's intent 

behind MAR 7.3 's fee-shifting provision. 

B. Bearden Conflicts with Precedent Comparing the Arbitration 
Award (Damages Plus Costs) to The Judgment (Damages Plus 
Costs). 

The Court of Appeals' decision in Bearden is not "consistent"20 

with previous precedent from this Court and the Court of Appeals 

determining whether a party failed to improve his position for purposes of 

awarding MAR 7.3 fees. The few reported cases that simply compare a 

party's position after arbitration to its position on the same claims after 

trial de novo include post-arbitration costs and fees in the MAR 7.3 

determination.21 E.g., Miller, 178 Wn. App. at 966-68 (request for RCW 

49.48.030 attorney fees denied at arbitration, but awarded at trial; 

and conflicts with on-point decisions. Id 118 Wn.App. at 612; e.g. $200 statutory 
attorney fee (RCW 4.84.080). 
20 Slip op., at 11. See also id. at 5 (court of appeals "has consistently held" trial court 
may compare only claims actually arbitrated with those tried); id at 9 (stating all 3 
divisions of the Court of Appeals "agree" the trial court compares "the aggregate success 
on claims actually litigated between the parties at both the arbitration and the trial de 
novo"). 
21 Most of the reported cases on MAR 7.3 involve comparisons other than arbitration 
award vs. judgment, such as offers of compromise, offers of judgment, new claims or 
cross-claims, multiple parties, or allocation of fault. 
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comparing aggregate claims asserted, court did not segregate or exclude 

fees incurred only for trial); Christie-Lambert, 39 Wn. App. at 302-03 

(including increased interest incurred post-arbitration; excluding new 

cross-claim at trial); Cormar, 60 Wn. App. at 623-24 (including increased 

interest after arbitration); Colarusso v. Petersen, 61 Wn. App 767, 812 

P.2d 862 (1991) (including RCW 4.84.010 costs of $470.34 requested 

only from trial court). 

The new Bearden formula excluding "those fees and costs that 

arise only for trial"22 conflicts with the analysis of all three divisions of the 

Court of Appeals: Cormar (Div. 2), Miller (Div. 3), and Christie-Lambert 

(Div. 1). In Cormar, the arbitrator awarded damages to defendant Sauro, 

but rejected his claim for prejudgment interest. Cormar requested a trial de 

novo. The trial court awarded lesser damages to Sauro, but granted 

prejudgment interest, making the total amount of the judgment greater 

than the arbitration award. The court of appeals affirmed the trial court's 

award of MAR 7.3 attorney fees to Sauro. 

The court specifically considered and rejected Cormar's 

"sophisticated argument" having to do with the time value of money and 

"how it is affected by the time lag between" arbitration and trial. Id at 

623. The court held that Cormar's time lag argument "fails to refute the 

22 Slip op., at 12. 
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simple fact that Sauro emerged from superior court with a judgment for 

more money than the arbitrator awarded." !d. As noted, the court held 

Cormar' s approach was inconsistent with the purpose of mandatory 

arbitration, which is best served by reading MAR 7.3 as a "broad warning" 

against appeals. !d. at 623-24. 

In Miller, a former employee recovered $22,802.84 in his 

arbitration against the employer, but the arbitrator denied his request for 

attorney fees and costs under RCW 49.48.030. Miller requested a trial de 

novo, at which the court awarded slightly less in damages ($21,628.97), 

but granted $897.95 in costs and $74,662.00 in attorney fees under the 

statute, making the judgment substantially higher than the arbitration 

award. The court of appeals held that the trial court correctly considered 

the total amounts awarded to Miller at arbitration and trial, because Miller 

obtained fees "based on the exact argument" he had made to the arbitrator. 

!d. at 967. 

Miller certainly improved his position on the trial de novo, 

comparing the arbitration award to the trial judgment. In that situation, 

"'to truly compare comparables, the success of aggregate claims asserted 

should be considered in deciding if Mr. Miller 'improve[d] [his] 

position."' !d. at 968. Again, the Miller court did not segregate or exclude 

the fees and costs incurred post-arbitration to reach its MAR 7.3 
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determination. 

In Christie-Lambert, defendant McLeod moved for a trial de novo 

following an arbitration award in favor of Christie-Lambert. Id at 300. 

The arbitration award against McLeod was for $3,045.42 plus $453.05 

interest, while the trial judgment against McLeod was $3,090.96 plus 

$521.30 interest. Id at 299. The court did not segregate or exclude interest 

incurred during the time lag between arbitration and trial de novo. The 

court observed that the difference between Christie-Lambert's arbitration 

award and trial de novo judgment against McLeod was de minimis yet 

sufficient to award MAR 7.3 fees. Id at 305. 

The Christie-Lambert court interpreted MAR 7.3 to give effect to 

its purpose to deter meritless appeals and to favor arbitration as a means of 

reducing court congestion by concluding McLeod had failed to improve 

his position on the trial de novo as to the claims that were arbitrated: 

[I]t is inherently unfair to deny an attorney fee award to a party 
that has borne the cost of mandatory arbitration and a trial de novo 
without a change in results .... 

Christie-Lambert, 39 Wn. App. at 304; Haley v. Highland, 142 Wn.2d 

135, 154 n.7, 12 P.3d 119 (2000). Citing the rule of statutory construction 

that "a statutory provision should be interpreted to avoid strained or 

absurd consequences that could result from a literal reading," Christie-

Lambert, at 305, the court held: 
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Id 

Here denying an attorney fee award to Christie-Lambert would 
have the absurd consequence of defeating the statutory purposes to 
deter meritless appeals and to favor arbitration. 

Do v. Farmers Ins. Co., 127 Wn. App. 180, 110 P.3d 840 (2005) is 

also instructive on the role of trial costs in the MAR 7.3 analysis, though 

the case involved a CR 68 offer of judgment and an offer of compromise, 

rather than the relatively simple comparison of arbitration award with a 

judgment. In Do, defendant Getty requested a trial de novo from an 

arbitration awarding $18,692.72 (not including costs). Plaintiffs served an 

offer of <;ompromise for $15,000 plus statutory costs of $2,004. Getty did 

not accept the offer but later made a CR 68 offer of judgment, which 

plaintiffs accepted. Judgment was entered in the amount of $17,004, 

together with RCW 4.84.010 costs of $2,426. The trial court declined to 

award MAR 7.3 attorney fees. ld at 184. 

The court of appeals reversed, holding that Getty had failed to 

improve his position, comparing the offer of compromise to the judgment, 

including costs. The proper comparison was between the judgment 

amount--which as here included costs under RCW 4.84.010--and the offer 

of compromise. Id at 184-87. 

The court considered "the purpose of MAR 7.3-- 'to discourage 

meritless appeals and to thereby reduce court congestion"'--noting that 
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"the rule threatens mandatory attorney fees for any party who requests a 

trial de novo but does not improve its position." /d. at 187. 

Next, it offers the party an incentive to withdraw its request, with 
the possibility of avoiding attorney fees at the discretion of the 
court. Both the stick and the carrot are directed at the party 
requesting the trial de novo, attempting to influence its choices in 
the hope of reducing court congestion. 

Id By making an offer of judgment, defendant Getty had done nothing to 

"end the court case and, thus, the expenditure of court resources." /d. 

Likewise, McGill decided to continue to dispute Bearden's claims, 

carrying the case into litigation in court, knowing there would be RCW 

4.84.010 costs and possibly MAR 7.3 fees and costs. 

This Court has twice spoken on what it means to fail to improve a 

party's position on trial de novo for purposes of awarding MAR 7.3 fees, 

in Niccum v. Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441, 286 P.3d 966 (2012)(construing 

offer of compromise to exclude costs, so plaintiff did not improve 

position), and Haley, 142 Wn.2d at 135 (plaintiff did not improve position 

because at arbitration he did not request attorney fees under the State 

Securities Act). 

Niccum was a split 5-4 decision in which the Court held that an 

offer of compromise-which takes the place of an arbitration award--does 

not include costs and attorney fees. A bare majority of this Court held that 

Niccum was not entitled to MAR 7.3 attorney fees because, under the 
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terms ofRCW 7.06.060(1) regarding offers of compromise, the amount of 

costs awarded on a de novo verdict may not be deducted from the 

plaintiffs offer of compromise. Id at 447-50. This is because RCW 

7 .06.060(1) explicitly prohibits including costs on an offer of compromise: 

"a party is not entitled to costs in connection with an offer of 

compromise." Niccum at 448. 

Applied here, Niccum stands for the proposition that when a rule or 

statute mandates recovery of costs, as MAR 6.4 and RCW 4.84.010 do, 

those costs must be included in the determination whether a party 

improved their position.23 This Court should accept review to conclude 

that the trial court properly compared the arbitration award (damages plus 

RCW 4.84.010 costs) to the judgment (damages plus RCW 4.84.010 

costs), without subtracting costs Bearden necessarily incurred in defending 

the arbitration award. 

In the 2000 case of Haley v. Highland, plaintiff Haley requested a 

trial de novo after recovering $2,500 in damages at the arbitration. He 

was awarded the same amount at trial de novo; however, the court also 

23 This Court's 2011 amendments to the MAR directly support this analysis: MAR 3.2, 
6.4, and 7.1 now clarify that the arbitrator has the authority to award costs to the 
prevailing party at arbitration. 2011 02 WSR-31 (Jan. 19, 201 I) Since the amendments 
provide that costs are to be included in the arbitration award, the correct comparison is 
between the arbitration award (including costs) and the trial judgment (including costs, 
not just the verdict). 
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awarded him interest and attorney fees under RCW 21.20.430(1i4 in the 

amount of $19,262, resulting in a total judgment in favor of Haley for 

$23,126. Jd at 152 & n.4. The court concluded Haley had failed to 

improve his position and granted Highland his MAR 7.3 attorney fees. 

After the Court of Appeals reversed, this Court reinstated the MAR 7.3 

fees, on the ground that Haley's failure to ask the arbitrator for attorney 

fees "precludes a finding that he has improved his position under MAR 

7.3." Id at 154-55 & n.8. It would be improper in that situation to

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