I. NATUREOFTHECASE

This case involves a personal injury case where defendant Bearden 

was dissatisfied with the award at the mandatory arbitration. Bearden 

exercised his right to have a jury determine damages and requested a trial 

de novo. The jury awarded plaintiff less than the arbitrator awarded. Of 

the category of statutory costs plaintiff requested at arbitration, plaintiff 

was awarded less at trial. Division I correctly held that Bearden had 

improved his position on the trial de novo so the trial court erred in 

awarding RCW 7.06.060 and MAR 7.3 fees to McGill. This Court should 

allow Division I' s decision to stand. 

II. ISSUE PRESENTED 

1. Should this Court review Division I's decision reversing 

the MAR 7.3 attorney fees award where defendant improved his position 

and Division I's decision does not conflict with any decisions of the 

Washington appellate courts? 

2. Should this Court review Division I's decision reversing 

the MAR 7.3 attorney fees award where defendant improved his position 

and Division I's decision does not raise an issue of substantial public 

interest? 



III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

James Bearden and Dolphus McGill were involved in an 

automobile accident. (CP 288) Bearden sued McGill alleging negligence 

and seeking damages for his injuries. (CP 288-89) Bearden moved the 

matter to mandatory arbitration. (CP 277-79) 

After the arbitration hearing, Bearden submitted a cost bill 

identifying $1,187.00 in costs. (CP 292, 274-75) The arbitrator awarded 

Bearden $44,000 in damages. (CP 292-93) The arbitrator awarded costs 

for the filing fee, costs of service of process, records, reports, and statutory 

attorney fees. (CP 290-91) The arbitrator issued an amended arbitration 

award with costs of $1,187.00 for a total award of $45,187.00. (CP 290-

91) 

McGill requested trial de novo. (CP 268-71) The case proceeded 

to trial. (CP 246) The jury returned a verdict for Bearden in the amount 

of $42,500.00. (CP I 09) 

After trial, Bearden sought taxable costs of $4,049.22. (CP I 06-08) 

The court awarded taxable costs of $3,296.39. (CP 86-87, 88-89) The 

costs were for the ex parte and fax filing fees, witness fees, 50% of the 

costs for Dr. Murphy's discovery deposition, the entire cost of Dr. 

Murphy's perpetuation deposition, the cost of the deposition of Mr. 

McKilligan, police report costs, cost of Dr. Gaddis' report, and statutory 
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attorney fees. (CP 88-89) The court entered a Judgment reflecting the 

"Total Principal Judgment Amount" of $42,500.00 and costs of 

$3,296.39.1 (CP 86-87) The costs at trial included items not requested at 

arbitration (e.g., deposition testimony and transcripts). (CP 86-87, 88-89, 

290-91) 

Bearden moved for MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06.060 attorney fees and 

costs. (CP 75-84) He argued McGill had not improved his position on the 

trial de novo when the arbitration award plus costs was compared to the 

jury award plus costs. (CP 79) McGill opposed the motion, pointing out 

that he had improved his position at trial. (CP 45-47) 

The trial court ruled McGill had not improved his position at the 

trial de novo as compared to the arbitration, and Bearden was entitled to 

attorney fees. (CP 20-23) Bearden was awarded $71,800.00 in attorney 

fees. (CP 18-19, 21-23) 

McGill appealed. (CP 5-16) Division I Court of Appeals held 

McGill had improved his position on the trial and reversed the award of 

MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06.060 fees. Division I's decision stated: 

I Somewhat confusingly, the amounts were not written in the proper blanks. In the 
"Judgment Summary" section, the court appears to have erroneously listed the total 
amount of award plus taxable costs on the line labeled "Taxable Costs & Attorney's 
fees." (CP 86) In addition, in the "Judgment" section, the court appears to have 
erroneously written the amount "$42,500" in the space where the total amount of the 
award plus taxable costs should have been written. (Jd.) These anomalies are not 
pertinent to any issue in the case. 
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We hold that a court determines if a party improved its 
position at a trial de novo by comparing every element of 
monetary relief the arbitrator considered with the trial 
court's award for those same elements. Here, this means 
the damages and statutory costs that both the arbitrator and 
the trial court considered. It excludes those statutory costs 
requested only from the trial court. 

Bearden v. McGill, 193 Wn. App. 235, 239, _ P.3d _ (2016). The 

Bearden court explained: 

[A]ll three divisions of the Washington Court of Appeals 
agree that to determine if a party improved its position at a 
trial de novo, the superior court should compare the 
aggregate success on claims actually litigated between the 
parties at both the arbitration and the trial de novo
whether those claims were for damages, statutory fees, 
costs, or sanctions. 

!d. at p. 245 (footnotes omitted). The arbitration damages award was 

more than the trial damages award. Also the statutory costs considered 

and awarded by the arbitrator were more than the same category of 

statutory costs awarded at trial. Thus, McGill improved his position by 

requesting a trial. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

This Court will only accept review if the Court of Appeals' 

decision fits one of the four criteria in RAP 13.4(b): 

( 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 
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(3) If a significant question of law under the 
Constitution of the State of Washington or of the 
United States is involved; or 

( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. 

Petitioner contends this case qualifies for review because Division 

I' s decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, conflicts with 

another Court of Appeals' decision, and presents an issue of substantial 

public interest. Division I's decision is consistent with Supreme Court and 

Court of Appeals' case authority. Any public interest in the issue is not 

substantial and certainly does not justify this Court's review. Mr. McGill 

asks this Court to deny the petition. 

A. DIVISION I'S DECISION IS CORRECT AND SUPPORTS THE 

PURPOSES OF MANDATORY ARBITRATION. 

Division I's decision correctly applied the "comparing 

comparables" test for assessing under RCW 7.06.060 whether a party has 

improved his position on a trial de novo. Contrary to petitioner's 

arguments, there is no conflict with any Washington appellate decision. 

Petitioner contends Division I's decision conflicts with Christie-

Lambert Van & Storage Co. v. McLead, 39 Wn. App. 298, 693 P.3d 161 

(1984); Cormar, Ltd v. Sauro, 60 Wn. App. 622, 806 P.2d 253, rev. 

denied, 117 Wn.2d 1004 (1991), and Miller v. Paul M Wolf!Co., 178 Wn. 

App. 957, 316 P.3d 1113 (2014). In fact, the decision is consistent with 
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these cases. And Division I's decision explains how it followed this line 

of cases. 

Cormar and Miller both involved situations where the arbitrator 

rejected part of the party's request (i.e. pre-judgment interest in Comar 

and attorney fees in Miller) but at trial each obtained the relief rejected by 

the arbitrator. As in this case, the relief requested and awarded at 

arbitration was compared to the result of the same relief requested at trial. 

Division I' s decision explains the Miller court "concluded that a court 

should compare the success of aggregate claims litigated in both the 

arbitration and trial to decide if Miller improved his position at trial." 193 

Wn. App. at 245. 

In Christie, like here, Division I compared the claims actually 

litigated between the parties at both arbitration and trial. The Christie 

court determined that a party had not improved his position on trial de 

novo and therefore RCW 7.06.060 and MAR 7.3 fees were owed. 

Nothing in Christie conflicts with Division I's decision here. 

Petitioner also discusses Do v. Farmers Ins. Co., 127 Wn. App. 

180, 110 P .3d 840 (2005). (Petition at 16-17) Do is not applicable here. 

Do was not comparing an arbitration award with costs to a judgment with 

costs. Do involved a judgment entered on a CR 68 offer after a RCW 
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7.06.050 compromise. There was no CR 68 offer here nor was there an 

offer of compromise. 

Petitioner also discusses Niccum v. Enquist, 175 Wn. 2d 441, 448, 

286 P.3d 966 (2012). (Petition at 17-18) He argues that Niccum stands 

for the proposition that "when a rule or statute mandates recovery of costs 

... those costs must be included in the determination of whether a party 

improved their position." I d. at 18. Niccum contains no such holding or 

pronouncement. In fact, Niccum involves the RCW 7.06.050 offer of 

compromise situation. Again, Bearden did not make an offer of 

compromise. 

Petitioner cites Miller, Christie-Lambert, and Cormar arguing 

when statutory costs are at issue in arbitration and trial, the trial court must 

include them in determining whether the appealing party improved his 

position on the trial de novo.2 (Petition at 19) As explained above, these 

cases are consistent with Division I's decision. Division I's decision does 

include the same category of costs requested and awarded at arbitration 

with those requested and awarded at trial. There is no inconsistency or 

2 Petitioner also discusses Haley v. Highland, 142 Wn.2d 135, 12 P.3d 119 (2000), yet 
does not explain how Haley conflicts with Division I's decision. Haley is consistent with 
Division l's decision. 

7 



conflict with any Washington appellate decision. Review should be 

denied. 

B. THIS CASE DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL 
PUBLIC INTEREST. 

Petitioner argues his case raises an issue of substantial public 

interest, (Petition at 4, 7) yet surprisingly never states what that issue is. 

There is no issue of substantial public interest. This case involves a 

private dispute between private individuals based on unique facts and 

circumstances. There is no public interest, let alone substantial public 

interest. 

Division I followed and applied the well established principles of 

statutory and rule construction: determine legislative intent. 193 Wn. 

App. at 241 (citations omitted). It is undisputed that the mandatory 

arbitration statutes and rules were intended to encourage settlement and 

discourage meritless appeals (i.e. requests for trial de novo). Id at 242. 

Petitioner contends Division I's decision creates an absurd result, (Petition 

at 11) because a de novoing party would not request a new trial only to 

improve his position by $1 ,500. In essence, petitioner is arguing that 

improving one's position requires some minimal threshold of 

improvement. 
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Petitioner's argument ignores a fundamental principle of statutory 

construction: if the legislature had wanted to set a minimal threshold or 

fixed standard of improving one's position, the legislature could have 

included the provision in the statute. State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 

727-28, 63 P.3d 792 (2003); State v. Stattum, 173 Wn. App. 640, 655, 295 

P.3d 788, rev. denied, 178 Wn.2d 1010 (2013).3 The statute contains no 

such language. 

Under the plain meaning of the statutory language, improving is a 

betterment from the arbitration result. RCW 7.06.060. A defendant 

improves his position by having to pay less of an award after trial than 

after arbitration. A plaintiff who requests a trial de novo improves his 

position if he recovers more at trial than at arbitration. Had Bearden been 

dissatisfied with the arbitration award and requested trial de novo and 

obtained a trial award that was $1 ,500 more than the arbitration award, he 

would not likely be arguing that he had not improved his position. 

Petitioner argues that if post-arbitration taxable costs are not 

included in comparing one's position from the arbitration to the trial, the 

deterrent effect ofRCW 7.06.060 and MAR 7.3 is not advanced. (Petition 

3 "We cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the legislature has 
chosen not to include that language. We assume the legislature 'means exactly what it 
says.'" Delgado, 148 Wn.2d at 727-28 
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at 11-12) He argues post-arbitration costs "which the non-appealing party 

necessarily incurs" should be included in the MAR 7.3 analysis because 

the expenditure of resources for trial costs "is exactly what the MAR 

system is designed to prevent." Id But petitioner fails to explain how 

including the post-arbitration costs furthers the purposes of MAR. A 

prevailing party who asks for them can recover both his arbitration taxable 

costs and his trial taxable costs. Niccum, 175 Wn.2d at 450-451. Thus, 

the non-appealing party can recover costs he "necessarily incurs." 

This case does not present an issue of public importance. It does 

not present an issue of substantial public importance. This Court should 

deny review. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals correctly reversed the trial court's award of 

MAR 7.3 attorney fees and costs to plaintiff/petitioner Bearden. Division 

I's decision does not qualify for review under RAP 13.4. Respondent 

McGill respectfully requests that this Court deny review.